The International Behaviorology Institute By–laws

Article I (of 13): Names

Section 1–A. The name of this corporation shall be The International Behaviorology Institute; that name shall be represented by the initials TIBI without periods.

Section 1–B. If "TIBI" is used as an adjective preceded by the article "the," that combination, appearing as "... the TIBI...," shall not be redundant.

Section 1–C. The name of the *association* component of TIBI shall be The International Behaviorology Institute Association; that name shall be represented by the initials TIBIA without periods.

Section 1–D. If "TIBIA" is used as an adjective preceded by the article "the," that combination, appearing as "...the TIBIA...," shall not be redundant.

Article II. Purposes

Section 2–A. The purposes of The International Behaviorology Institute (TIBI) as a professional body shall be described under Section 2–A, and the purposes of TIBI as a corporation shall be described under Section 2–B:

Tibi is a *professional* organization that is dedicated to many concerns. Tibi is dedicated to teaching behaviorology, especially to those who do not have university behaviorology departments or programs available to them; tibi is a professional organization also dedicated to expanding the behaviorological literature at least through the *Journal of Behaviorology* (originally called TIBI News Time and then Behaviorology Today) with editors being appointed by the TIBI Board of Directors, usually from among the TIBIA Advocate members; TIBI is a professional organization also dedicated to organizing behaviorological scientists and practitioners into an association (The International Behaviorology Institute Association—TIBIA) so they can engage in coordinated activities that carry out the purposes of TIBI/TIBIA (activities such as [a] encouraging and assisting members to host visiting scholars who are studying behaviorology; [b] enabling TIBI faculty—who must also be TIBIA Advocate (or occasionally Associate) members to arrange or provide training for behaviorology students; and [c] providing TIBI certificates to students who successfully complete specified behaviorology curriculum requirements); and TIBI is a professional organization dedicated to representing and developing the philosophical, conceptual, analytical, experimental, and technological components of the discipline of behaviorology, the comprehensive natural science

discipline of the functional relations between behavior and independent variables including determinants from the environment, both socio—cultural and physical, as well as determinants from the biological history of the species. Therefore, recognizing that behaviorology's principles and contributions are generally relevant to all cultures and species, the purposes of TIBI and TIBIA (to be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*) are:

- A. to foster the philosophy of science known as radical behaviorism:
- B. to nurture experimental and applied research analyzing the effects of physical, biological, behavioral, and cultural variables on the behavior of organisms, with selection by consequences being an important causal mode relating these variables at the different levels of organization in the life sciences;
- c. to extend technological application of behaviorological research results to areas of human concern;
- D. to interpret, consistent with scientific foundations, complex behavioral relations;
- E. to support methodologies relevant to the scientific analysis, interpretation, and change of both behavior and its relations with other events;
- F. to sustain scientific study in diverse specialized areas of behaviorological phenomena;
- G. to integrate the concepts, data, and technologies of the discipline's various sub-fields;
- H. to develop a verbal community of behaviorologists;
- to assist programs and departments of behaviorology to teach the philosophical foundations, scientific analyses and methodologies, and technological extensions of the discipline;
- to promote a scientific "Behavior Literacy" graduation requirement of appropriate content and depth at all levels of educational institutions from kindergarten through university;
- K. to encourage the full use of behaviorology as the essential scientific foundation for behavior related work within all fields of human affairs;
- L. to cooperate on mutually important concerns with other humanistic and scientific disciplines and technological fields where their members pursue interests overlapping those of behaviorologists; and
- M. to communicate to the general public the importance of the behaviorological perspective for the development, well-being, and survival of humankind. *Section 2–B.* As a *corporation* the purposes of TIBI are to receive tax-deductible charitable contributions and apply such funds as are received to support TIBI's purposes as specified in Section II—A above.

Article III: Membership

Section 3–A. Tibia shall have four categories of membership, of which two are non–voting and two are voting. The two non–voting categories shall be Student and Affiliate. The two voting categories shall be Associate and Advocate. All new members shall be admitted provisionally to Tibia at the appropriate membership level. Advocates will consider each provisional member and then vote on whether to elect each provisional member to the full status of her or his membership level or to accept the provisional member at a different membership level.

Admission to TIBIA in the Student membership category shall remain open to all persons who are undergraduate or graduate students who have not yet attained a doctoral level degree in behaviorology or in an acceptably appropriate area, and who complete the membership application form and pay the appropriate dues.

Admission to TIBIA in the Affiliate membership category shall remain open to all persons who wish to maintain contact with the organization, receive its publications, and go to its meetings, but who are not students and who may not have attained any graduate degree in behaviorology or in an acceptably appropriate area, and who complete the membership application form and pay the appropriate dues. On the basis of having earned TIBI Certificates, Affiliate members may nominate themselves, or may be invited by the TIBI Board of Directors or Faculty, to apply for an Associate membership.

Admission to TIBIA in the Associate membership category shall remain open to all persons who are not students, who document a behaviorological repertoire at or above the masters level or who have attained at least a masters level degree in behaviorology or in an acceptably appropriate area, who maintain the good record—typical of "early-career" professionals—of professional accomplishments of a behaviorological nature that support the integrity of the organized, independent discipline of behaviorology including its organizational manifestations such as TIBI and TIBIA, and who complete the membership application form and pay the appropriate dues. On the basis either of documenting a behaviorological repertoire at the doctoral level or of completing a doctoral level degree in behaviorology or in an acceptably appropriate area, an Associate member may apply for membership as an Advocate.

Admission to TIBIA in the Advocate membership category shall remain open to all persons who are not students, who document a behaviorological repertoire at the doctoral level or who have attained a doctoral level degree in behaviorology or in an acceptably appropriate area, who maintain a good record of professional accomplishments of a behaviorological nature, who

demonstrate a significant history—typical of experienced professionals—of work supporting the integrity of the organized, independent discipline of behaviorology including its organizational manifestations such as TIBI and TIBIA, and who complete the membership application form and pay the appropriate dues.

The criteria for each membership level shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. Also, lists of the members at each membership level shall be periodically provided to members in a letter or email, or in a directory, or in *Journal of Behaviorology*.

Section 3–B. The TIBI Board of Directors bears final responsibility regarding decisions on acceptably appropriate degree areas and specific criteria for each membership category. The criteria and degree areas for each membership category may be reviewed and, with the concurrence of the Board of Directors, edited as deemed appropriate by the officers—the "Executive Board"—of the voting members of TIBIA.

Section 3–C. With the concurrence of the Executive Board of the voting members of TIBIA, a group may hold a group-membership in TIBIA. At least one member of the group must hold an individual membership in TIBIA by fully meeting the criteria for the level of membership held, and one such member-person will be chosen by the group to act as the group's formal representative to TIBIA. The person serving as the group's representative to TIBIA may be changed at the discretion of the member group. At any given time, such a member group shall have only those rights and privileges normally attached to the category of membership in TIBIA held by its current representative. Any such member group shall have only one vote on matters upon which its representative is eligible to cast a vote, get only one free subscription to publications provided with membership, and receive only one copy of any other materials or benefits distributed to members. The person in the group, who is to act as the group's representative and who shall be a qualified individual member of TIBIA, shall, upon recognition by the highest ranking TIBIA officer present at, or in control of, any official TIBIA function, be authorized to speak, vote, or otherwise represent the group. Any such designated person shall function on behalf of the represented group only with the rights and privileges of the level of TIBIA individual membership held by that person. If during the tenure of a group membership, no member of a member-group qualifies as an individual member of TIBIA and accepts the appointment and responsibility for representing the group, then the group membership automatically ends.

Section 3–D. Establishing the annual dues structure for the different membership categories takes partially into account, by means of percentages of annual income, the differences in income levels and currency values

among the world's various countries. Thus, the annual dues for each membership category (which shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*) are:

Membership <u>Category</u>	Dues (in US dollars —\$10 minimum)
Advocate	The lesser of 0.4% of annual income, or \$80.00
Associate	The lesser of 0.3% of annual income, or \$60.00
Affiliate	The lesser of 0.2% of annual income, or \$40.00
Student	The lesser of 0.1% of annual income, or \$20.00

Article IV: Board of Directors, Faculty, Officers, Terms, and Vacancies

Section 4–A. Tibi will have a Board of Directors and a Faculty. These shall be constituted as follows:

The TIBI Board of Directors shall consist initially of the founders of TIBI and the TIBIA President. The members of the TIBI Board of Directors may create additional membership seats on the TIBI Board of Directors by unanimous vote for each membership seat created, however the total number of members shall not exceed ten. For any additional seat created, the TIBI Board of Directors shall by unanimous vote elect a new Board member to fill the new seat from among the TIBI Faculty or from among past or present TIBIA elected officers, or from among the voting members who have served in one or another official TIBI capacity (e.g., as an editor or treasurer or convention organizer). When a member of the TIBI Board of Directors resigns, the remaining members of the TIBI Board of Directors may by unanimous vote eliminate that membership seat, however the total number of Board members shall not be less than five. Members of the TIBI Board of Directors shall serve in that capacity until they resign.

Members of the TIBI Board of Directors will maintain TIBIA Advocate membership. Except for the TIBIA President, Board members will pay an annual Board of Directors dues of the lesser of 0.6% of annual income or Us\$120.00 (minimum: Us\$20.00). Failure to maintain TIBIA Advocate membership, or failure to pay annual Board of Directors dues, will constitute resignation from being a member of the TIBI Board of Directors. When the seat of a member of the TIBI Board of Directors who resigns is retained, the remaining members of the TIBI Board of Directors will replace him or her by electing a new Board member from among the TIBI Faculty or

from among past or present TIBIA elected officers. Board of Directors dues shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*.

In addition to the TIBI founders who shall be TIBI Faculty members so long as they hold TIBIA Advocate membership and meet all other faculty requirements, the TIBI Faculty will be those accepting TIBI Faculty appointments made by the TIBI Board of Directors from among all TIBIA Advocates or by special exception as the TIBI Board of Directors deems appropriate. TIBI Faculty appointments may be for a specified or an unspecified period; in either case, the appointments may be rescinded. All TIBI Faculty will maintain TIBIA Advocate membership (unless an exception applies), as well as pay an annual Faculty dues of the lesser of 0.5% of annual income or us\$100.00 (minimum: us\$20.00). Failure to maintain TIBIA Advocate membership (unless an exception applies), or failure to pay annual Faculty dues, will constitute resignation from being a TIBI Faculty member. Faculty dues shall be printed in each issue of Journal of Behaviorology. Faculty may receive stipends from TIBI.

All doctoral level behaviorologists (a) who are TIBI Faculty members, or (b) who are offered and accept appointments as TIBI Faculty members, shall receive from TIBI the *DLBC* (Doctoral Level Behaviorology Certificate), recognizing the level of their behaviorological repertoire, as part of TIBI's expression of appreciation for their service contributing to the teaching of other behaviorologists.

Also, the list of the TIBI Board of Directors and TIBI Faculty shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*.

Section 4–B. Whenever the number of Associate and Advocate members reaches an appropriate level as determined by the TIBI Board of Directors, then Sections 4–B, 4–C, 4–D, 4–E, 4–F, 4–G, 4–H, 5–A, 6–A, 7–B, 7–C, and 7–D of these By-Laws will take effect.

Tibia Officers will be (a) a President, (b) a Vice President, and (c) a Secretary. All three officers will be elected by the voting members of Tibia from among the Advocates. Should the President be unable to carry out the duties of office, the Vice President shall assume those duties until the President—within her or his term of office—is again able to carry them out, and the Secretary will be third in that same line of succession. Should all three officers be unable to carry out the duties of office, the Tibi Board of Directors will review and act on available options.

The three elected officers shall appoint, from among the Advocates and Associates, other officers as they deem necessary for the successful operation of TIBIA.

TIBIA will have an Executive Board, with up to ten members, consisting of the three elected officers,

the chair of the TIBI Board of Directors, the immediate TIBIA past president, and up to five senior appointed TIBIA officers.

Lists of the TIBIA Executive Board members and all elected and appointed officers and their terms shall be reported to all the members at least annually (e.g., in a Directory of member information).

Section 4–C. Tibia officers shall have terms of three years duration. A person may serve as president for more than one term but may not be elected to consecutive full terms. A person may serve as vice president for no more than three consecutive full terms, though a person may serve as vice president for more than three terms if the terms are not consecutive. A person may serve as secretary for no more than five consecutive full terms, though a person may serve as secretary for more than five terms if the terms are not consecutive. Appointed officers are not limited to any fixed number of terms.

Section 4–D. If an elected officer vacates office and one year or less remains in the unexpired term, the TIBIA Executive Board shall, within three months of the vacancy, appoint a replacement to finish the three—year term. If more than one year remains in the unexpired term, a special election shall be conducted by the TIBIA Executive Board within three months of the vacancy to fill that office for the remainder of the unexpired term. If an appointed officer vacates office before the expiration of his or her term, the TIBIA Executive Board shall act within three months of the vacancy either (1) to appoint a person to complete the unexpired term, (2) to allow the office to go unfilled until such time as the TIBIA Executive Board appoints a person to fill it, or (3) to eliminate the office.

Section 4–E. The three–year terms of each of the elected officers shall run concurrently, beginning on January 1. The terms of office for the first set of elected officers shall have begun on 1 January 1998 and shall end on 31 December 2000.

Section 4–F. An elected officer of TIBIA may be removed from office by a two-thirds majority vote of the voting members of TIBIA. Such a vote shall occur upon the presentation to the TIBIA Executive Board of a petition, signed by at least one-fifth of the current TIBIA voting members. The petition shall name the officer whose removal is sought, specify the reasons for the action to remove from office, and request that such a vote be taken. The officer whose removal is sought shall prepare a rebuttal at his or her option within ninety (90) days from notice of the petition action. The reasons for the removal and the rebuttal, if any, shall be presented to the voting members before they are asked to vote on a motion to remove an elected officer.

Section 4–G. An appointed officer, or a person appointed to any other official duty or task within TIBIA, may be removed by action of the TIBIA Executive Board

from that position prior to the expiration of the appointed term of office regardless of how that term and the office are defined. The reasons for such a removal action shall be given to the person at least 30 days prior to an opportunity for that person to be heard by the TIBI Executive Board regarding the removal action, which hearing must occur prior to the removal action taking effect.

Section 4–H. The TIBIA President and Vice President may divide and specify how the usual duties of such executive positions will be shared between them. The duties of the TIBIA Secretary will include (a) taking the minutes of all official meetings, (b) verifying those minutes—within 30 days of the meeting—with those present or with a sub-group of them authorized by them to authenticate the minutes, (c) providing the verified minutes to the members, and to the Journal of Behaviorology editor, by letter or email, (d) carrying out the election procedures as needed, (e) sending "Thank You" correspondence to persons making material donations or monetary contributions to TIBI/A, (f) verifying that responses have been made to correspondence addressed to TIBIA or any of its officers, (g) coordinating the production of a TIBI/A Directory, and (h) distributing TIBIA announcements (e.g., of position statements or meetings).

Article V: Nominations And Elections

Section 5-A. Elections shall be conducted by the TIBIA Executive Board. Six months before an elected officer's term begins, the nomination and election procedure is begun and proceeds as follows: Ballots calling for nominations shall be prepared and distributed to all voting members of TIBIA by the end of July, and returned, along with statements of willingness "to serve if elected" from those being nominated, by the end of September if they are to be counted. The names of the two persons receiving the highest number of nominations for each office, from among those who are both eligible and willing to serve if elected, shall be placed on the official TIBIA election ballots. Those ballots shall be prepared and distributed to all voting members of TIBIA before the end of October and returned before the end of November if they are to be counted. The results of such elections shall be available before the end of December and shall be reported to the members by letter or email and in Journal of Behaviorology and announced at the next TIBIA meeting. On I January each newly elected officer begins her or his term of office.

Article VI: Meetings

Section 6–A. The TIBIA President may call meetings of the TIBIA Executive Board, and must call a meeting when requested by a majority of the TIBIA Executive Board. The TIBIA Executive Board shall call general meetings of TIBIA

members. An annual meeting of TIBI/TIBIA members will be held. The proceedings of all these meetings will be reported to the members by letter or email or in the next issue of *Journal of Behaviorology* (and whenever possible, these meetings will be announced beforehand in *Journal of Behaviorology* as well).

Article VII: Quorum

Section 7–A. For the TIBI Board of Directors to take any action, a quorum of all the Board members must be involved although the involvement need not require being bodily present at a traditional meeting because involvement may be by electronic or other communications methods at different points in time. Should full consensus on a motion not be reached, members may vote through the communication means of their involvement either for or against the motion—or specifically abstain—and the motion will pass only if a minimal consensus of 80% is reached among board members in favor of the motion. Actions of the TIBI Board of Directors will be reported to the members by letter or email or in the next issue of Journal of Behaviorology.

Section 7–B. A quorum at business meetings of the TIBIA Executive Board shall consist of either the three elected officers plus two other TIBIA Executive Board members, or two of the three elected officers plus four other TIBIA Executive Board members. No valid business meeting of the TIBIA Executive Board can be conducted if a bona fide attempt was not made to provide timely notice of the meeting to each person eligible to participate.

Section 7–C. The TIBIA Executive Board may create an Executive Committee consisting of a subset of the TIBIA Executive Board members. The Executive Committee subset must have at least three members of which one must be a member of the TIBI Board of Directors. The proceedings of all Executive Committee meetings will be reported to the members by letter or email or in the next issue of Journal of Behaviorology. The quorum at business meetings of the Executive Committee shall be as indicated in the following chart:

Executive Committee

Number of Members	Quorum
3–5	3
6 or 7	4
8 or more	70%

Section 7–D. The quorum at business meetings of other groups within TIBIA shall be determined by those groups, except that at *initial* organizational meetings of any such groups having predetermined numbers of members, the quorum at the first meeting shall be 50% of the previously defined membership.

Article VIII: Fiscal Matters and Treasurer Responsibilities

Section 8–A. Each member's dues shall be due and payable in or before the month of December before the next membership year.

Section 8–B. Members who qualify and apply for a change in membership status shall see an approved status change at the start of the next membership year.

Section 8–C. Tibi and, as part of Tibi, Tibia shall share a Treasurer appointed by the тіві Board of Directors from among the voting TIBIA members. The Treasurer shall be responsible for keeping records of billing of members for all types of dues and dues payments described in these Bylaws. He or she shall be responsible for keeping records of any contributions received and disbursements made. She or he will prepare a report on the fiscal and membership status of TIBIA to be presented at each annual TIBIA Executive Board meeting and at each additional TIBIA Executive Board meeting at which a report describing the fiscal or membership status of TIBIA might be relevant. The report will also be distributed to the TIBI Board of Directors. Once each year or when requested, he or she will also prepare a report on the fiscal status of TIBI, including dues billed and paid, contributions received, and disbursements made. This report will be provided to the TIBI Board of Directors. All such reports shall be printed in the corporate record (along with the minutes of the legally required annual meeting of the TIBI Board of Directors) and shall be reported to the members by letter or email or in Journal of Behaviorology.

Section 8–D. In addition to the automatic allocation of adequate funds to support the Journal of Behaviorology and the postage and supply costs incurred through the duties of the Secretary, the policies for (a) the investment of TIBIA funds, (b) expenditures, and (c) disbursements, policies which may result from actions of the TIBIA Executive Board or which may be proposed by TIBIA members, shall be approved by the voting members of TIBIA at the annual TIBIA meeting. Those policies shall be carried out by the TIBIA Executive Board. All such policies shall be reported to the members by letter or email or in Journal of Behaviorology.

Section 8–E. In addition to the automatic allocation of adequate funds to support the training of TIBI's students, the postage and supply costs and accounting agency fees incurred through the duties of the Treasurer, and support for the *Journal of Behaviorology*, the policies for (a) the investment of TIBI funds, (b) expenditures, and (c) disbursements shall be determined and carried out by the TIBI Board of Directors. All such policies shall be reported to the members by letter or email or in *Journal of Behaviorology*.

Section 8–F. In addition to treasurer responsibilities, the treasurer will bear some secretarial responsibilities. These will

include (a) corresponding with those applying for training, and (b) maintaining the TIBI corporate seals, certificate stocks, and records of certificates earned/presented.

Article IX: Position Statements

Section 9–A. Position statements of TIBIA shall become official after both receiving the approval of the TIBIA voting members, according to voting arrangements specified and carried out by the TIBIA Executive Board, and receiving the concurrence of the TIBI Board of Directors. Thereafter, dissemination of such position statements shall be considered official only if made by a member of the TIBI Board of Directors or by an elected officer of TIBIA, and in the event of publication, only if accompanied by a statement of endorsement as an official position statements shall be printed in the *Journal of Behaviorology*.

Section 9–B. Affiliated organizations, groups holding group memberships in TIBIA, TIBIA members, or other TIBIA related units are required to disclaim explicitly any implications of TIBIA endorsement of any position statements that they might adopt unless such statements have been formally approved by TIBIA as specified in Section 9–A.

Section 9–C. The TIBI and TIBIA names may not be used by any TIBIA member in any way that implies an official endorsement by the organization unless such an official endorsement has been extended by the organization and the member is acting in accordance with the provisions of that endorsement.

Section 9–D. Activities or works of any TIBIA member which mention TIBIA or TIBI, or names that could be confused with these names, are to carry a statement clarifying that no official TIBI or TIBIA endorsement of those activities and works has been sought or provided.

Article X: General

Section 10–A. The TIBI Board of Directors and the TIBIA Executive Board shall maintain a Policies and Procedures manual, the contents of which shall not contradict these TIBI By–laws. This manual shall reflect the preferences of these boards in running the day to day affairs of TIBI and TIBIA. The boards shall be guided by the policies and procedures set forth in this manual. This manual shall be printed in *Journal of Behaviorology* as should any changes to it.

Section 10–B. Tibi and tibia shall not have any policy, procedure, or by–law which makes race, color, creed, ethnicity, age, gender, physical condition, sexual preference, or national origin a criterion for granting admission to tibia membership or to any tibi or tibia program or activity.

Section 10–C. Any member of TIBIA who resigns from membership in TIBIA or who allows her or his

TIBIA membership to lapse by failing to pay dues and renew membership, shall thereby terminate all benefits, privileges, and opportunities of membership. Upon subsequently rejoining TIBIA, if that occurs, he or she shall be considered a new member in the appropriate membership category and shall receive no additional credit, status, or other benefits based on prior TIBIA membership except that should she or he pay the dues that would have been assessed in the intervening years then he or she will be considered to have been a member for those years.

Article XI: Amendments to By-laws

Section 11-A. Amendments to these By-laws may be proposed by any member of the TIBI Board of Directors or by a petition signed by at least 70% of those listed as TIBIA voting members. These By-laws may be amended by any of three mechanisms: (a) These By-laws stand amended if 80% or more of the TIBI Board of Directors votes for the proposed amendment. Or (b) at any time that TIBIA has more than 50 voting members these Bylaws stand amended if 90% or more of TIBIA voting members signs a petition requesting the change. Or (c) if an amendment is not adopted by action of the TIBI Board of Directors after that amendment was proposed by a petition signed by between 70% and 89% of TIBIA voting members (at any time that TIBIA has more than 50 voting members), then the TIBI Board of Directors must, within 30 days of their vote, distribute a report to all TIBIA voting members describing why the amendment was not adopted; however, if that report is not distributed in a timely manner, then the proposed amendment takes effect and the By-laws stand changed. All By-laws changes shall be reported in *Journal of Behaviorology*.

Article XII: Communications Via Journal

Section 12–A. The purposes of TIBI shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology* (the TIBI journal). [From (section) 2–A.]

Section 12–B. The criteria for each TIBIA membership level shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 3–A.]

Section 12–C. The annual dues for each TIBIA membership category shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 3–D.]

Section 12–D. Lists of the members of TIBIA at each membership level shall be periodically provided to members by letter or email, or in a directory, or in *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 3–A.]

Section 12–E. Board of Directors dues and Faculty dues shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 4–A.]

Section 12–F. Lists of the members of the TIBI Board of Directors and TIBI Faculty, (and TIBI students asking

to be listed) shall be printed in each issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 4–A.]

Section 12–G. All Actions of the TIBI Board of Directors will be reported to the members by letter or email, or in the next issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 7–A.]

Section 12–H. The results of TIBIA elections shall be reported to the members by letter or email, or in the next issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 5–A.]

Section 12–I. Lists of the TIBIA Executive Board members and all elected and appointed officers and their terms shall be printed in *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 4–B.]

Section 12–J. The proceedings of all TIBIA Executive Board, general, and annual meetings will be reported to the members by letter or email, or in the next *Journal of Behaviorology* (and whenever possible, these meetings will be announced beforehand in that periodical as well). [From 6–A.]

Section 12–K. The proceedings of all meetings of the Executive Committee of the TIBIA Executive Board will be reported to the members by letter or email, or in the next *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From *7–C.*]

Section 12–L. All reports from the TIBI/A Treasurer shall be provided to the members by letter or email, or in the next issue of *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 8–C.]

Section 12–M. All TIBI and TIBIA fiscal policies regarding income, expenditures, disbursements, and temporary investment of income prior to disbursement, shall be reported to the members by letter or email, or in *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 8–D and 8–E.]

Section 12–N. All official TIBIA position statements shall be printed in *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 9–A.]

Section 12–0. The updated/current version of these By–laws, and the Policies and Procedures manual of the TIBI Board of Directors and the TIBIA Executive Board, shall be printed in *Journal of Behaviorology* when they change. [From 10–A.]

Section 12–P. By–laws changes shall be reported in *Journal of Behaviorology*. [From 11–A.]

Article XIII: Rules of Procedure

Section 13–A. The rules contained in the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order (Newly Revised) shall govern TIBI, including TIBIA, in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are consistent with these By–laws and with any special rules, policies, or traditions that TIBI or TIBIA might recognize; otherwise, these By–laws and the special rules, policies, and traditions of TIBI or TIBIA shall govern.

Article XIV: Dissolution

Section 14–A. In the event of the dissolution or termination of TIBIA, the association component of TIBI, all of the assets and title to and possession of the property of TIBIA shall pass to TIBI.

Section 14–B. In the event of the dissolution or termination of TIBI, all of the assets and title to and possession of the property of TIBI shall pass to a scientific educational organization selected by the TIBI Board of Directors.